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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

 
DISTRICT OF NEVADA 

 
SONJIA MACK, an individual, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
BRIAN WILLIAMS, Sr., in his individual 
capacity; JAMES DZURENDA, in his 
individual capacity; ARTHUR EMLING, 
Jr., in his individual capacity; MAYRA 
LAURIAN, in her individual capacity; and 
JOHN DOES 1 and 2, in their individual 
capacities, 
 

Defendants. 
 

Case No.  2:18-cv-00799-APG-VCF 
 

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR 
SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

 

Defendants, BRIAN WILLIAMS, JAMES DZURENDA, ARTHUR EMLING, and 

MAYRA LAURIAN, by and through counsel, Adam Paul Laxalt, Nevada Attorney General, 

and Henry Kim, Deputy Attorney General, and hereby move for summary disposition of 

this matter in their favor. This motion is made and based on Rule 56 of the Federal Rules 

of Civil Procedure (“FRCP”), the following memorandum of points and authorities, all 

pleadings and papers on file, the attached exhibits, and any other evidence the Court deems 

appropriate to consider. 

. . .  
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. BACKGROUND 

On May 4, 2018, Plaintiff, Sonjia Mack (Plaintiff), filed a Civil Rights Complaint 

(Complaint) pursuant to 42 U.S.C. Section 1983, alleging five causes of action: ECF No. 1. 

(1) Due Process violation pursuant to the Fourteenth Amendment and Article 1 Section 8 

of the Nevada Constitution against Defendants Emling and Laurian; (2) Cruel and 

Unusual Punishment pursuant to the Eighth Amendment and Article 1 Section 6 of the 

Nevada Constitution against Defendants Emling and Laurian; (3) Unreasonable Search 

and Seizure pursuant to the Fourth Amendment and Article 1 Section 18 of the Nevada 

Constitution against Defendants Emling and Laurian; (4) Due Process violation pursuant 

to the Fourteenth Amendment and Article 1 Section 8 of the Nevada Constitution against 

Defendants Williams and Dzurenda; (5) an equal protection claim pursuant to the 

Fourteenth Amendment against Defendants Williams and Dzurenda. ECF No. 1.  

II. STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED FACTS 

 On the morning of February 19, 2017, Sonjia Mack and Tina Cates arrived at the 

High Desert State Prison to visit their respective certain prisoners. ECF No. 1 at 3. After 

routine processing, Mack and Cates were waiting in the visiting room area. Id. Cates was 

approached by Defendant Emling, who asked her to follow him outside. Id. Shortly 

thereafter, an unidentified gentlemen approached Mack and escorted her to an 

administrative building. Id. They turned her over to Defendant Laurian—a female—who 

then escorted Mack to a room and performed a strip search. Id. Before the search occurred, 

Mack had signed a “Consent to Search, DOC-1615,” attached as Exhibit 1, stating the 

following: 
 
I, the undersigned, being free from coercion, duress, threats or 
force of any kind, do hereby freely and voluntarily consent to the 
search of my person, vehicle and other property which I have 
brought onto prison grounds.  I agree that the search maybe 
conducted by duly authorized Correctional Officers of the 
Department of Corrections or by other law enforcement officers 
specifically authorized by the Warden.  I understand that if I do  

. . .  
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not consent to the search of my person, vehicle or other property,  
I will be denied visitation on this date and may also be denied 
future visits pursuant to Administrative Regulation 719.  

 On or about February 22, 2017, Mack received a letter stating that her visiting 

privileges were suspended indefinitely, and she would not be allowed to return to High 

Desert State Prison (HDSP) without written request and permission from the HDSP 

Warden or Nevada Department of Corrections (NDOC) Director. Id. at 5. Mack’s attorney 

faxed a letter to Defendants Dzurenda and Williams, seeking to have Mack’s visiting 

privileges restored. Id. Defendants Dzurenda and Williams did not respond to Mack’s 

attorney. Id. The NDOC has upheld Mack’s visiting privileges being suspended 

indefinitely. Id.  

III. LEGAL STANDARD 

A. Summary Judgment Under FED. R. CIV. P. 56 

“The purpose of summary judgment is to avoid unnecessary trial when there is no 

dispute as to the facts before the court.” Northwest Motorcycle Ass'n v. U.S. Dep't of Agric., 

18 F.3d 1468, 1471 (9th Cir. 1994) (citation omitted). “The court shall grant summary 

judgment if the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and 

the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” FED. R. CIV. P. 56(a). Summary 

judgment should be granted where a party fails “to make a showing sufficient to establish 

the existence of an element essential to that party’s case, and on which that party will bear 

the burden of proof at trial.” Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986). The court 

shall consider all admissible affidavits and supplemental documents attached to a motion 

for summary judgment. See Connick v. Teachers Ins. & Annuity Ass'n, 784 F.2d 1018, 1020 

(9th Cir. 1986). The moving party has the initial burden of demonstrating that summary 

judgment is proper, Adickes v. S.H. Kress & Co., 398 U.S. 144, 152 (1970), and factual 

inferences should be drawn viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. 

Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 255 (1986). 

To defeat summary judgment, the nonmoving party cannot rely on conclusory 

allegations. Berg v. Kincheloe, 794 F.2d 457, 459 (9th Cir. 1986). Rather, the nonmovant 
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must present “specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial.” Anderson, 477 U.S. 

at 256. The nonmovant’s evidence should be such that a “fair minded jury could return a 

verdict for [him or her] on the evidence presented.” Id. at 255. In attempting to establish 

the existence of this factual dispute, the opposing party may not rely on the allegations or 

denials of its pleadings but is required to tender evidence of specific facts in the form of 

affidavits or admissible discovery materials, in supports of its contention that the dispute 

exists. See FED. R. CIV. P. 56(c)(1). 

IV. ARGUMENT 
 
A. There are no Genuine Issues of Material Fact Related to the Alleged 

Eighth Amendment Violation and Defendants are Entitled to 
Judgment as a Matter of Law  

Plaintiff, who is neither a prisoner nor pre-trial detainee, alleges in her Second 

Cause of Action that her Eighth Amendment right to be free from cruel and unusual 

punishment was violated when Defendants Emling and Laurian “detained Ms. Mack 

without probable cause and conducted a warrantless strip search of her person without her 

consent.” ECF No. 1 at 7.  

“Eighth Amendment scrutiny is appropriate only after the State has complied with 

the constitutional guarantees traditionally associated with criminal prosecutions.”  

Ingraham v. Wright, 97 S. Ct. 1401, 1412, n. 40 (1977). “[T]he State does not acquire the 

power to punish with which the Eighth Amendment is concerned until after it has secured 

a formal adjudication of guilt in accordance with due process of law.” Id; see also Bell v. 

Wolfish, 99 S. Ct. 1861, 1873, n. 16 (1979) (same). The Eighth Amendment “applies only to 

individuals who are being punished, and thus does not protect those against whom the 

government has not secured a formal adjudication of guilt in accordance with due process 

of law.” Shaw v. Dist. of Columbia, 825 F. Supp. 2d 173, 177 (D.D.C. 2011) (internal 

quotation marks and citation omitted).   

In this case, Plaintiff is not a convicted prisoner. Plaintiff was visiting a convicted 

prisoner. It is well established that the Eighth Amendment does not apply to Plaintiff in 

this case because she is not a convicted prisoner.   
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Even if the Eighth Amendment did apply, it is not cruel and unusual punish for a 

person to be subjected to a strip search pursuant to the person’s verbal and written consent, 

as well as reasonable suspicion. Additionally, Plaintiff admitted that she was never 

handcuffed during the entire visit at the High Desert State Prison on February 19, 2017. 

See Plaintiff’s Responses to Defendants’ Requests for Admissions, attached as Exhibit 2, 

at 3. Therefore, there are no genuine issues of material fact related to Plaintiff’s Second 

Cause of Action, and Defendants are entitled to judgment as a matter of law. 
 
B. There are no Genuine Issues of Material Fact Related to the Alleged 

Fourth Amendment Violations and Defendants are Entitled to 
Judgment as a Matter of Law 

Plaintiff alleges that she was “denied and deprived of her rights against 

unreasonable search and seizure . . . by Defendants Emling, Laurian . . . when they 

detained her without probable cause and conducted a warrantless strip search of her person 

without her consent.” ECF No. 1 at 7. 

The United States Supreme Court stated in 1973 that it is “well settled that one of 

the specifically established exceptions to the requirements of both a warrant and probable 

cause is a search that is conducted pursuant to consent.” Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 93 S. 

Ct. 2041, 2043–44 (1973). Consistent with this long–standing rule, the Ninth Circuit has 

acknowledged the “well-settled exception to the warrant requirement that an individual 

may waive his [or her] Fourth Amendment rights by giving voluntary and intelligent 

consent to a warrantless search of his person, property, or premises." United States v. 

Cormier, 220 F.3d 1103, 1112 (9th Cir. 2000) (internal quotation marks omitted). 

Here, Plaintiff signed a consent to search form, where she “freely and voluntarily 

consent[ed] to the search of [her] person, vehicle and other property which [she] brought 

onto prison grounds.” Exhibit 1. Plaintiff also admitted that she signed a consent to search 

form, consenting to search of her person, vehicle and any other property she brought onto 

prison grounds. Exhibit 2, at 1-2. Plaintiff also admitted that she did not revoke her consent 

to search before being searched or during the search. Id. at 2. Further, both Defendants 

Emling and Laurian stated that Ms. Mack willingly consented to the search. See Defendant 
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Emling’s Responses to Plaintiff’s Interrogatories, attached as Exhibit 3, at 5; see also 

Defendant Laurian’s Responses to Plaintiff’s Interrogatories, attached as Exhibit 4, at 5. 

Specifically, Defendants Emling and Laurian stated that Plaintiff verbally consented to the 

strip search. See Exhibit 3 at 5; see also Exhibit 4 at 5.  

While the oral and written consent were enough to justify the search, even if this 

Court were to find a factual question in that regard (which there is not), Defendants also 

had reasonable suspicion to conduct a strip search. Reasonable suspicion is all that is 

required to strip search a prison visitor according to persuasive authority. See O'Con v. 

Katavich, 1:13-CV-1321-AWI-SKO, 2013 WL 6185212, at *6 (E.D. Cal. Nov. 26, 2013) 

(“While subjecting a prison visitor to a strip search in the absence of a warrant does not 

require probable cause, the weight of authority indicates that officers must have reasonable 

suspicion.”). In O'Con, the District Court went on to state, “[a]lthough not yet addressed by 

the Ninth Circuit in a published opinion, many other Courts of Appeals have concluded 

that, after weighing the state’s legitimate interest in prison security against the privacy 

rights of prison visitors, a visitor may only be subjected to a strip search if the search is 

supported by reasonable suspicion.” Id. at 5.  

Specifically, the Sixth Circuit held that “the residual privacy interests of visitors in 

being free from such an invasive search requires that prison authorities have at least a 

reasonable suspicion that the visitor is bearing contraband before conducting such a 

search.” Spear v. Sowders, 71 F.3d 626, 630 (6th Cir. 1995). The Sixth Circuit went on to 

say “that the law was clearly established by the time of the search in this case that the 

Fourth Amendment required reasonable suspicion before authorizing a body cavity search.”  

Id. “Three circuits had reached this conclusion in the mid-1980s.” Id. By 1995, at least five 

circuits had held that the Fourth Amendment required reasonable suspicion before 

authorizing a visual cavity search. See id.; Blackburn v. Snow, 771 F.2d 556, 564-66 (1st 

Cir. 1985); Thorne v. Jones, 765 F.2d 1270, 1277 (5th Cir. 1985); Hunter v. Auger, 672 F.2d 

668, 674 (8th Cir. 1982); Boren v. Deland, 958 F.2d 987, 988 (10th Cir. 1992). 

. . . 
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This reasonable suspicion standard makes sense as the Ninth Circuit Court of 

Appeals has held that “[t]here is no question that the government has an interest in the 

security of its prisons which will justify searches in the prison context which would not 

otherwise be reasonable.” Kirkpatrick v. City of Los Angeles, 803 F.2d 485, 488 (9th Cir. 

1986) (emphasis added). Reasonable suspicion exists when the officer responsible for the 

search is aware of specific articulable facts and inferences from those facts that warrant a 

suspicion that contraband will be recovered. Id. at 490. In Alabama v. White, 110 S. Ct. 

2412, 2416 (1990), the Supreme Court of the United States stated: 
 
Reasonable suspicion is a less demanding standard than 
probable cause not only in the sense that reasonable suspicion 
can be established with information that is different in quantity 
or content than that required to establish probable cause, but 
also in the sense that reasonable suspicion can arise from 
information that is less reliable than that required to show 
probable cause.  

Additionally, the Supreme Court has recognized that “detention facilit[ies are] a unique 

place fraught with serious security dangers. Smuggling of money, drugs, weapons, and 

other contraband is all too common . . . [a]nd inmate attempts to secrete these items into 

the facility by concealing them in body cavities are [well] documented . . . .” Bell v. Wolfish, 

99 S. Ct. 1861, 1884 (1979).   

 Here, Defendants had probable cause to believe that Ms. Tina Cates, who drove Ms. 

Mack to the prison, was introducing illegal controlled substances and/or narcotics to the 

prison facility. See Search and Seizure Warrant, attached as Exhibit 5. In addition, 

Defendants had information, and Ms. Mack admitted to Defendant Emling, that she was 

instructed by an inmate (whom she was there to visit) to pay $300 to an unknown Hispanic 

male. See Exhibit 3 at 5. Considering all the information that was available to Defendants 

at the time, Defendants had a reasonable suspicion to conduct a strip search of Ms. Mack.  

Accordingly, the undisputed facts establish that Mack provided both oral and verbal 

consent to the search. In addition to the search being valid based on consent, the search 

was appropriate under the reasonable suspicion standard even without a search warrant. 

. . .  
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Thus, there are no genuine issues of material fact related to Plaintiff’s Third Cause of 

Action and Defendants are entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  
 
C. There are no Genuine Issues of Material Fact Related to the Alleged 

Due Process Violations and Defendants are Entitled to Judgment as 
a Matter of Law  

“An individual claiming a protected liberty interest must be legitimately entitled to 

it.” Egberto v. McDaniel, 3:08-CV-00312-HDM-VPC, 2011 WL 1233358, at *8 (D. Nev. Mar. 

28, 2011), aff'd, 565 Fed. Appx. 663 (9th Cir. 2014). “Certain prison regulations may create 

liberty interests protected by the Fourteenth Amendment. However, most prison 

regulations are designed to guide prison officials in the administration of the prison, not 

confer rights on inmates.” Id. (internal citation omitted). “Further, any prison regulation 

that creates a liberty interest must contain ‘substantive limitations on official discretion’ 

or ‘explicit mandatory language.’” Id. citing Kentucky Dept. of Corr. v. Thompson, 490 U.S. 

454, 460, 462 (1989). “[T]he most common manner in which a State creates a liberty interest 

is by establishing ‘substantive predicates’ to govern official decision-making, and, further, 

by mandating the outcome to be reached upon a finding that the relevant criteria have been 

met.” Thompson, 490 U.S. at 462. “A Nevada inmate and prison visitor are never 

guaranteed visitation, which is a discretionary privilege and not a right.” Egberto, supra. 

In Thompson, the Supreme Court held “[t]he denial of prison access to a particular visitor 

is well within the terms of confinement ordinarily contemplated by a prison sentence, and 

therefore is not independently protected by the Due Process Clause.” 490 U.S. at 461 

(internal citation and quotation marks omitted); see also Dunn v. Castro, 621 F.3d 1196, 

1201 (9th Cir. 2010).  

The Fifth Circuit has repeatedly held that a prisoner does not have an absolute right 

to visitation, and visitation privileges are subject to the discretion of prison officials. See 

Samford v. Dretke, 562 F.3d 674, 682 (5th Cir.2009) (holding the removal of prisoner's sons 

from the approved visitors’ list did not violate his constitutional rights); Berry v. Brady, 

192 F.3d 504, 508 (5th Cir. 1999) (“Berry has no constitutional right to visitation 

privileges.”); Davis v. Carlson, 837 F.2d 1318, 1319 (5th Cir. 1988) (holding prisoners do 
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not have a constitutional right to contact visits); Thorne v. Jones, 765 F.2d 1270, 1273 (5th 

Cir. 1985) (holding prisoner had no absolute right to visits from his parents); Lynott v. 

Henderson, 610 F.2d 340, 342 (5th Cir. 1980) (holding that “convicted prisoners have no 

absolute constitutional right to visitation”); McCray v. Sullivan, 509 F.2d 1332, 1334 (5th 

Cir. 1975) (“Visitation privileges are a matter subject to the discretion of prison officials.”). 

The Eleventh Circuit has agreed with the Fifth Circuit, stating: “[a] convicted prisoner has 

no absolute constitutional right to visitation, such privilege being subject to the discretion 

of prison authorities, provided the visitation policies of the prison meet legitimate 

penological objectives.” Evans v. Johnson, 808 F.2d 1427, 1428 (11th Cir. 1987). 

1. First Cause of Action 

 Plaintiff alleges that her Fourteenth Amendment right to due process was violated 

when Defendants Emling and Laurian “detained Ms. Mack without probable cause and 

conducted a warrantless strip search of her person without her consent.”  

Noted throughout this Motion, Plaintiff acknowledged that she “freely and 

voluntarily consent[ed] to the search of [her] person, vehicle and other property which [she] 

brought onto prison grounds.” See Exhibit 2. The consent form voluntarily signed by Mack 

not only permitted the NDOC to search her person, but also her vehicle and any other 

property she brought onto prison grounds. Exhibit 1, at 1-2. Mack also admitted that she 

did not revoke her consent to search before being searched or during the search. Id. at 2.  

Further, both Officers Emling and Laurian stated that Ms. Mack willingly consented 

to the search, including strip search. See Officer Emling’s Responses to Plaintiff’s 

Interrogatories, attached as Exhibit 3, at 5; see also Officer Laurian’s Responses to 

Plaintiff’s Interrogatories, attached as Exhibit 4, at 5. Mack was also aware that she was 

not detained and she could leave at any time. This is made evident from the fact that, at 

one point during the search, Mack told Officer Laurian that she was leaving and proceeded 

to leave. In other words, Mack was aware that she was free to leave at any time because 

Officer Emling informed her prior to the search that she was free to leave at any time and 

did not have to answer any questions. See Exhibit 3, at 5. Simply put, Mack’s Fourteenth 
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Amendment right to due process was never violated, as she consented to the search and 

was free to revoke her consent at any time. Accordingly, there are no genuine issues of 

material fact as to Plaintiff’s First Cause of Action and Defendants are entitled to judgment 

as a matter of law.  

2. Fourth Cause of Action 

Plaintiff alleges that her Fourteenth Amendment right to due process was violated 

when Defendants Williams and Dzurenda “upheld or maintained the indefinite 

termination/suspension of Ms. Mack’s visiting privileges.” ECF No. 1 at 8.  

Here, Mack is unable to point to any administrative regulations that may lead her 

to believe that she has any liberty interest in visiting an inmate. There is no case law or 

statute to support the proposition that Mack has any liberty interest in visitation of an 

inmate. Additionally, NDOC has imperative safety and security interest in maintaining 

control over who comes to the prison for visitation. Here, Defendants had important 

penological interest in preventing a visitor from introducing illegal substances and/or 

narcotics to the prison. To protect such safety and security interest, NDOC should and does 

have sound discretion over inmate visitation. Therefore, there are no genuine issues of 

material fact as to Plaintiff’s Fourth Cause of Action and Defendants are entitled to 

judgment as a matter of law. 
 
D. There are no Genuine Issues of Material Fact Related to the Alleged 

Equal Protection Violation and Defendants are Entitled to Judgment 
as a Matter of Law 

Plaintiff alleges that her Fourteenth Amendment rights were violated when 

Defendants Williams and Dzurenda “indefinitely terminated, and/or upheld or maintained 

the indefinite termination, of [Plaintiff’s] visiting privileges while allowing others similarly 

situated visitors to maintain [their visiting privileges].”   

Plaintiff asserts her equal protection claim based on a class of one theory pursuant 

to Vill. of Willowbrook v. Olech, 120 S. Ct. 1073, 1074 (2000) (“Our cases have recognized 

successful equal protection claims brought by a ‘class of one,’ where the plaintiff alleges 

. . .  
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that she has been intentionally treated differently from others similarly situated and that 

there is no rational basis for the difference in treatment.”). See ECF No. 16 at 2. 

“Where a plaintiff does not allege a violation of a fundamental right or the existence 

of a suspect classification, prison officials need only show that their policies bear a rational 

relationship to a legitimate penological interest in order to satisfy the equal protection 

clause.” Egberto, supra; see also Coakley v. Murphy, 884 F.2d 1218, 1221-22 (9th Cir. 1989).  

“A regulation or policy neither involving fundamental rights nor proceeding along suspect 

lines is accorded a strong presumption of validity . . . . Thus, the highly deferential rational 

basis standard applies to any equal protection challenges to such regulations.” Egberto, 

supra (internal citation omitted). The suspension of the visiting privileges of a prison visitor 

is a valid, rational response to preventing the introduction of drugs and contraband to the 

prison. See Egberto, supra; see also Robinson v. Palmer, 841 F.2d 1151, 1156–57 (D.C. Cir. 

1988) (holding that the permanent denial of face-to-face communications between inmate 

and his wife was not an “exaggerated response” to the perceived threat of visitors 

introducing drugs into the prison). 

  In this case, Mack’s visiting privileges were suspended because of the information 

that was gathered by the Inspector General’s Office in addition to her association with Ms. 

Cates. See Defendant Williams’ Responses to Plaintiff’s Interrogatories, attached as 

Exhibit 6, at 5-6. In other words, Defendants had a legitimate reason to suspend Plaintiff’s 

visiting privileges. NDOC has imperative safety and security interest in maintaining 

control over who comes to the prison for visitation. Here, Defendants had important 

penological interest in preventing a visitor from bringing in illegal substances and/or 

narcotics to the prison. Such interest is sufficient to satisfy the constitutional muster under 

the Equal Protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Accordingly, there are no 

genuine issues of material fact as to Mack’s Fifth Cause of Action and Defendants are 

entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  

. . . 

. . . 
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E. Defendants are also Entitled to Qualified Immunity 

In addition to being entitled to summary judgment based on the lack of any material issue 

of genuine fact that would permit a jury to rule in favor of Mack, Defendants are also 

entitled to summary judgment in this case under the doctrine of qualified immunity. 

 Whether governmental employees are entitled to qualified immunity is a question of 

law subject to de novo review before this Court. Devereaux v. Perez, 218 F.3d 1045, 1051 

(9th Cir. 2000) (citing Elder v. Holloway, 510 U.S. 510, 516 (1994); Thompson v. Mahre, 

110 F.3d 716, 721 (9th Cir. 1997)). Like summary judgment motions, “[t]his court must 

assume the relevant facts in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and then determine 

whether the defendants are nonetheless entitled to qualified immunity as a matter of law.”  

Devereaux, 218 F.3d at 1051 (citing Moran v. Washington, 147 F.3d 839, 944 (9th Cir. 

1998)).   

 
The plaintiff bears the burden of demonstrating that the 
underlying right was clearly established at the time of the 
alleged misconduct. If the plaintiff meets this burden then the 
officials must prove that “their conduct was reasonable under the 
applicable standards even though it might have violated the 
plaintiff's constitutional rights.” [Devereaux, supra (citing 
Romero v. Kitsay Cty., 931 F.2d 624, 627 (9th Cir. 1991) and 
Benigni v. City of Hemt, 879 F.2d 473, 480 (9th Cir. 1998)).]  
 

It is a long-standing principle that governmental officials are shielded from civil liability 

under the doctrine of qualified immunity. Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 818 (1992). 
 
The defense of qualified immunity protects “government officials 
. . . from liability for civil damages insofar as their conduct does 
not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights 
of which a reasonable person would have known.”  The rule of 
qualified immunity “‘provides ample support to all but the 
plainly incompetent or those who knowingly violate the law.’”  
“Therefore, regardless of whether the constitutional violation 
occurred, the officer should prevail if the right asserted by the 
plaintiff was not ‘clearly established’ or the officer could have 
reasonably believed that his particular conduct was lawful.” 
Furthermore, “[t]he entitlement is an immunity from suit rather 
than a mere defense to liability; . . . it is effectively lost if a case 
is erroneously permitted to go to trial.” [Schroeder v. McDonald, 
55 F.3d 1115, 1121 (9th Cir. 2014) (quoting Robinson v. York, 566 
F.3d 817, 821 (9th Cir. 2009).]  

. . .  
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When conducting the qualified immunity analysis, courts “ask (1) whether the official 

violated a constitutional right and (2) whether the constitutional right was clearly 

established.” C.B. v. City of Sonora, 760 F.3d 1005, 1022 (9th Cir. 2015) (citing Pearson v. 

Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 232, 236 (2009)).  

 The second inquiry, whether the constitutional right in question was clearly 

established, is an objective inquiry that turns on whether a reasonable official in the 

position of the defendant knew or should have known at the time of the events in question 

that his or her conduct was constitutionally infirm. Anderson v. Creighton, 483 U.S. 635, 

639-40 (1987); Lacey v. Maricopa Cty., 693 F.3d 896, 915 (9th Cir. 2012). Only where a 

governmental official’s belief as to the constitutionality of his or her conduct is “plainly 

incompetent” is qualified immunity unavailable. Stanton v. Sims, 134 S. Ct. 3, 5 (2013) (per 

curiam). Governmental officials are entitled to high deference when making this 

determination, Anderson, 483 U.S. at 640, requiring the Court to assess whether qualified 

immunity is appropriate “‘in light of the specific context of the case.’” Tarabochia v. Adkins, 

766 F.3d 1115, 1121 (9th Cir. 2014) (quoting Robinson v. York, 566 F.3d 817, 821 (9th Cir. 

2009)).   

 In determining “‘whether a [constitutional] right was clearly established,’” this Court 

is to survey the law within this Circuit and under Supreme Court precedent “‘at the time 

of the alleged act.’” Perez v. United States, 103 F. Supp. 3d 1180, 1208 (S.D. Cal. 2015) 

(quoting Cmty. House, Inc. v. City of Boise, 623 F.3d 945, 967 (2010); citing Bryan v. 

MacPherson, 630 F.3d 805, 933 (9th Cir. 2010). Only in situations where there is no 

precedent regarding the qualified immunity question at issue should this Court look to 

“other circuits and district courts to ascertain whether the law is clearly established.” Cmty. 

House, 623 F.3d at 967 (citing Osolinski v. Kane, 92 F.3d 934, 936 (9th Cir. 1996)). 

If forced to look at cases outside of the Ninth Circuit or the Supreme Court, this 

Court should take into account whether there is disagreement among judges considering 

whether a particular law was clearly established. Perez, 103 F. Supp. 3d at 1208 (citing 

Safford Unified Sch. Dist. No. 1 v. Redding, 557 U.S. 364, 378 (2009)). In either case, the 
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precedent must decide the constitutional questions “beyond debate” for a court to hold that 

a government official is not entitled to qualified immunity. Ashcroft v. al-Kidd, 563 U.S. 

731, 741 (2011) (citing Anderson, 483 U.S. at 640; Malley v. Briggs, 475 U.S. 335, 341 

(1986)). 

On January 9, 2017, the Supreme Court unanimously reiterated what is meant by 

clearly established. There, in the case of White v. Pauly, 137 S.Ct. 548 (2017) (per curiam) 

(2017), the Court instructed as follows: 
 
Today, it is again necessary to reiterate the longstanding 
principle that “clearly established law” should not be defined “at 
a high level of generality.” As this Court explained decades ago, 
the clearly established law must be “particularized” to the facts 
of the case. Otherwise, “[p]laintiffs would be able to convert the 
rule of qualified immunity . . . into a rule of virtually unqualified 
liability simply by alleging violation of extremely abstract 
rights.” 
 
The panel majority misunderstood the “clearly established” 
analysis: It failed to identify a case where [the government 
officials] acting under similar circumstances . . . [were] held to 
have violated the [Constitution]. [White, 137 S.Ct. at 551-52].  

The Ninth Circuit had the opportunity to further explain the dictates of White in its May 

12, 2017 decision in S.B. v. County of San Diego, 864 F.3d. 1010 (9th Cir. 2017). There, the 

Ninth Circuit “acknowledge[d] the Supreme Court’s recent frustration with failures to heed 

its holdings,” and that the Court had “‘repeatedly told courts—and the Ninth Circuit in 

particular—not to define clearly established law at a high level of generality.’” Id. at 1015. 

The S.B. court then acknowledged that it heard the Supreme Court “loud and clear,” and 

noted that “[b]efore a court can impose liability on [a government employee, it] must 

identify precedent as of the date” of the alleged constitutional deprivation, “that would put 

[the government employee] on clear notice that” the individual’s action “in [this] particular 

circumstance[] would” violate the constitution. Id.    

 The burden of proving whether the particular right in question was clearly 

established rests with the non-governmental party. Greene v. Camreta, 588 F.3d 1011, 1031 

(9th Cir. 2009), vacated in part on other grounds, 661 F.3d 1201 (9th Cir. 2011) (citing 

. . .  
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Galen v. Cty. of L.A., 477 F.3d 652, 655 (9th Cir. 2007)); see also Kennedy v. City of 

Ridgefield, 439 F.3d 1055, 1065 (9th Cir. 2006). 

 Mack cannot meet this burden.   

With regard to the first prong, i.e., whether a constitutional right existed, for the 

reasons noted above, Defendants maintain that none of their actions constitute a violation 

of any constitutional right. Rather, the search was wholly justified under the voluntary 

consent Mack provided. They were also consistent with the Fourth Amendment given that 

reasonable suspicion permitted the search. In addition, because Mack was not incarcerated 

at the time of the searches, the Eighth Amendment simply does not apply. Finally, 

Defendants actions do not run afoul of the Equal Protection clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment, as the search of Mack had a rational relationship to a legitimate penological 

interest of preventing narcotics from being introduced to the prison. 

With regard to the second prong, i.e., whether an objectively reasonable official in 

the position of the Defendants were on clear notice that their actions violated the 

constituted, Mack will be unable to provide this Court with any case that would have put 

Defendants on “clear notice” that their actions in this case violated Mack’s constitutional 

rights. This is made clear based on the legal precedent set forth in this motion which 

establishes the lack of any constitutional violation. Therefore, if this Court were to 

conclude, contrary to the legal authorities referenced herein that a constitutional violation 

did, or may have, occurred, then it would be clear that no previous case placed Defendants 

on notice. 

As such, Defendants are entitled to qualified immunity. Thus, in addition to the 

merits, this Court has yet another alternative basis grant summary judgment in favor of 

Defendants. 

V. CONCLUSION 

 In this case, there are no genuine issues of material fact remaining for adjudication. 

Defendants never violated any of Mack’s constitutional rights. Rather, the search was 

wholly justified under the voluntary consent Mack provided. They were also consistent with 
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the Fourth Amendment given that reasonable suspicion permitted the search. In addition, 

because Mack was not incarcerated at the time of the searches, the Eighth Amendment 

simply does not apply. Additionally, Defendants actions do not run afoul of the Equal 

Protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, as the search of Mack had a rational 

relationship to a legitimate penological interest of preventing narcotics from being 

introduced to the prison. Finally, Defendants are entitled to qualified immunity.  

 In Cates v. Stroud et al., Case No. 2:17-cv-01080-GMN-PAL, which is a case filed by 

Cates who drove Mack to the prison, this Court granted Defendants’ Motion for Summary 

Judgment. Cates and this case have similar factual allegations, so similar that Mack had 

filed a Motion to Consolidate this case with Cates. (See ECF No. 36). Like Cates, Defendants 

here are entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Accordingly, Defendants respectfully 

request that this Court grant Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment as to all of 

Mack’s Causes of Action in favor of Defendants.  

DATED this 20th day of December, 2018. 

      
      ADAM PAUL LAXALT 
      Attorney General 
 
      By:      /s/ Henry H. Kim                           
       HENRY H. KIM (Bar No. 14390) 
       Deputy Attorney General 
 
       Attorneys for Defendants 

James Dzurenda, Arthur Emling, 
Mayra Laurian, and Brian Williams 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I certify that I am an employee of the State of Nevada, Office of the Attorney General, 

and that on December 20, 2018, I electronically filed the foregoing DEFENDANTS’ 

MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT via this Court’s electronic filing system. Parties 

who are registered with this Court’s electronic filing system will be served electronically.   

  
 Travis N. Barrick, Esq. 
 Gallian Welker & Beckstrom, LC 
 540 East St. Louis Avenue 
 Las Vegas, Nevada 89104 
 Attorneys for Plaintiff 
 

/s/ Diane Resch                                         
Diane Resch, an employee of the  
Office of the Nevada Attorney General  
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